IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PERRY TAYLOR, : Appellant, : vs. : STATE OF FLORIDA, : Appellee. : JUL **6 1993**

CLERK, SUPREME COURT. By______ Chief Deputy Clerk

Case No. 80,121

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

(inter-

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

STEVEN L. BOLOTIN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 236365

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33830 (813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, PERRY TAYLOR, was the defendant in the trial court, and will be referred to this brief as appellant or by name. Appellee, the State of Florida, was the prosecution and will be referred to as the state. The record on appeal for the new penalty phase and resentencing will be referred to by use of the symbol "R." The record of appellant's 1989 trial will be referred to by the symbol "OR." All emphasis is supplied unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Perry Taylor was charged by indictment filed November 16, 1988 with first degree murder and sexual battery of Geraldine Birch (R670-73). After a trial on May 8-11, 1989 before Circuit Judge M. William Graybill and a jury, appellant was found guilty as charged on both counts (OR663,1173). The verdict form, as to first degree murder, was a general one, and did not specify whether the jury was finding felony murder, premeditated murder, or both (OR663,1173). After the penalty phase, the jury recommended the death penalty, and on May 12, 1989 the trial judge sentenced appellant to death (OR776,786-87,1179-81;R677).¹

In an opinion issued June 27, 1991, this Court affirmed appellant's convictions, but reversed the death sentence and remanded for resentencing before a new jury (R681-97). <u>Taylor v. State</u>, 583 So. 2d 323 (Fla. 1991).

A new penalty trial was held on May 18-21, 1992 before Circuit Judge Diana Allen and a jury. The jury, by a 8-4 vote, recommended the death penalty (R599,799). On June 23, 1992, in accordance with the jury's recommendation, the trial judge imposed a sentence of death (R647-54,806-10,812-17) The judge found three aggravating factors and five nonstatutory mitigating factors, but accorded

¹ A sentence of life imprisonment was imposed on the sexual battery count (OR787-88,1181,1187;R679).

little weight to three of the mitigating circumstances (R813-16, 648-53).²

² The aggravating circumstances found were (1) appellant was previously convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violence; 2) the capital felony occurred during the commission of a sexual battery; and (3) the capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. The judge found and gave some weight to the mitigating circumstances of (1) appellant's deprived family background; and (2) the abuse he suffered as a child. The judge found but gave very little weight to the mitigating circumstances of (3) appellant's remorse; (4) the testimony of Dr. Berland that he suffers from organic brain injury; and (5) his good conduct in jail prior to the incident on June 19, 1992 (R813-16,648-53).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The following is a summary of the evidence presented in the new penalty trial.

Tampa police officer Edward Batson received a call on the morning of October 24, 1988 pertaining to a female passed out in a baseball dugout. He arrived at the Belmont Heights Little League field, where he found the dead, partially-clothed body of a black female lying on her back in the dugout. He secured the scene and notified homicide detectives (R194-98).

Sergeant Louis Potenziano responded to the scene, where he directed the collection of evidence and taking of photographs (R102-18), He noticed drag marks from about three quarters of the way from one end of the dugout to the other, leading to the body (R211-12). There was dirt on the heel area of the deceased's feet (R212). Several sneaker impressions were found outside the dugout; in one of these the word Adidas was impressed into the sand (R215-16). Photographs were taken and casts were made of the shoe prints (R216,219).

Detective George McNamara, the lead detective in this investigation, took the photos and casts of the shoe impressions to an FDLE crime scene analyst (R225-26). He interviewed people in the neighborhood of the Little League field, and spoke with appellant the day after the body was found (R226-27). Appellant had heard about it from people in the neighborhood (R228-29). McNamara asked him what he had done the night before the homicide, and appellant told him that he and some friends had gone to the Manila Bar, and

had returned to the area known as "the cut" (R229-31). He retrieved a picture from Reggie Marcus' car, talked with a man known as Blue, and then went back to his mother's house (R230). In response to McNamara's question, appellant told him he was wearing blue jeans, a sweatshirt, and a pair or Adidas tennis shoes (R231). McNamara asked if had been in the area of the Little League field; appellant said he had not been over there in the six weeks he'd been staying in the area (R231). McNamara told him that footprints had been found at the scene, and asked him again if he'd been in the area (R231). Appellant repeated that he hadn't (R231). McNamara asked him if he would voluntarily provide the clothing and shoes for testing (R231-32,262). After appellant agreed, the detectives drove him to his mother's house; he went inside and brought the clothing and shoes out to them (R231-32). On parting, Detective McNamara asked appellant to call him if he heard anything, and appellant said he would (R232-33). The next day, the shoes were turned over to the FDLE analyst (R233-34).

On October 27, 1988, while en route to appellant's residence to see if he'd heard anything, Detective McNamara received information on the police radio that appellant's shoes matched the impressions (R237,251-52). Appellant drove up to the house, and was asked if he would accompany the detectives back to the police department (R238). He was taken to an interview room and advised of his constitutional rights (R238-39). Asked what he had done on the night before the death of Geraldine Birch, appellant recounted the same sequence of events he'd told them two days earlier, except

that when McNamara asked him if he'd gone up to the area of the ballpark, he stated that on the preceding Friday he had gone to the outfield portion of the ballpark and had sex with a female (R241). At this point, the detectives told him that his shoes had matched the impressions in the dirt near the victim's body (R241-42). Appellant paused momentarily and began to tear up (R242). He said that it was an accident; he didn't mean for it to happen (R242). He told McNamara that the woman (whom he did not know) walked by when he was in the area of the cut, and she had agreed to have sex with him. In the dugout, she began to perform oral sex, and as she did it harder she was causing an irritation. He asked her to stop, and he attempted to pull his penis out of her mouth. Upon doing so, she bit down hard on his penis. He could not pull it from her mouth, and he started choking her with both hands for two or three minutes; then struck her several times about the face. He dragged her body to the other end of the dugout, laid her down, kicked her in the upper torso, and stomped on her chest. He then left the dugout and returned home (R242-433,245,247). Toward the end of his statement, McNamara testified, appellant was visibly upset and started to cry (R245).

When McNamara asked appellant if he had had vaginal sex with the woman, he said he had not (R243,245,258). Shortly thereafter, he told Detectives Duran and Bell that they did have vaginal sex (R259).

After the interview, appellant voluntarily signed a consent form for the collecting of head and pubic hair samples and saliva (R244). He was then turned over to the custody of Detective Duran.

Detective Henry Duran obtain hair and saliva samples from appellant, and examined his penis (R266-68,271). Appellant said it was so sore he hadn't washed it for several days (R267). Duran observed a small white dot at the base of the head of the penis, but saw no scabs, lacerations, nor anything that looked to him like teeth marks (R268,270). At Duran's direction an ID technician photographed it (R267-70,893-96).

Duran asked appellant if he and the woman had had penis to vagina sex. Appellant said they did, but mentioned to Duran that he had told Detective McNamara they did not (R271-72,277-79,280-81). They had had vaginal sex for just about a minute; then she said she didn't want to do it any more, and began performing oral sex (R272). She was scratching and hurting him, and he told her to quit about three times (R272-73). Instead, she bit down on the head of his penis (R273). He pushed her away, and began choking her with both hands (R273). He then hit her three or four times with his fist, and when she was on the ground he kicked her two or three times in the ribs and stomped her once (R273,275).

Associate medical examiner Lee Miller observed the body of Geraldine Birch in the dugout, and later performed an autopsy (R284-85). The cause of death was massive blunt injury to the head, neck, chest, and abdomen (R286,300,325-27). Her internal organs were severely damaged, and according to Dr. Miller great

force would have been required to inflict these injuries (R305-10). Numerous ribs were fractured, as was her larynx (R301,309-10). There was a pattern injury on the right side of the front of her waist near the rib cage, which Dr. Miller stated was consistent with her being stomped by a person wearing tennis shoes (R301-02). Another bruise, a circular injury on her left forearm, appeared to Dr. Miller to be characteristic of a human bite mark (R317). Ms. Birch's lower dental plate was out of her mouth. (It had been recovered on the ground in the dugout)(R297-98).

Dr. Miller testified that there was one large tear and a couple of smaller ones on the perineum (the skin between the vagina and the anus), and about ten smaller tears circumferentially around the external opening of the vagina (R292,311). There were no deep injuries to the vagina (R314). According to Miller, it was possible, but unlikely, that these injuries were caused by penis to vagina intercourse (R312-13,321). More likely, he believed, they were caused by an object or a hand (R312-14). The larger tear, on the outside of the vagina was "not really typical of something being inserted" because it was too far away, although it was a possibility (R313). Asked whether that injury could have been caused by a kick, he first said he had no opinion within a reasonable medical certainty; then said he could not exclude the possibility but didn't think it was likely (R314,321-23).

In Dr. Miller's opinion, it would have taken at least ten and probably more blows to cause these injuries (R318-19). Ms. Birch could not have survived very long with these injuries, and she

would have been dead by the time the last one was inflicted (R318). Death was not instantaneous (R320). However, she might well have been rendered unconscious from being choked, and if so she probably would not have regained consciousness while the other injuries were being inflicted (R322).

Through the testimony of Detective George Hill of the Hillsborough County Sheriff's Office, the state introduced appellant's 1982 conviction of the sexual battery of Tracy Barchie (R343-44, 891-92). Appellant was sixteen at the time; Ms. Barchie twelve (R339-40). Appellant had given a statement (consistent with Ms. Barchie's account) in which he admitted to removing her clothing, penetrating her with his finger, and placing his penis against her vagina, although he did not put it all the way in (R341-43). He told her he would kill her if she told anyone (R342,244-45). Appellant pled no contest and was sentenced as a youthful offender (R892).

The defense presented the testimony of Noel Borgas,³ Sharon Smith, and Tammy Kirk, detention deputies at the Hillsborough County Jail West, who supervised appellant at various times in 1988 and 1991-92. He was polite, cooperative, and never caused any disciplinary problems (R360-61,363,369,376-77). When he was eligible, under the policies that existed in 1988, he was a trustee (R359). He is a practicing Muslim, and appears to be sincere in

³ Or Borhoss (see R759,356).

his faith (R361-63). Sergeant Kirk described him as "definitely one of our better inmates" (R376).⁴

Otis Allen, a friend and neighbor of appellant, testified that in the early morning hours of October 24, 1988 he was with appellant and Pop Marcus when a woman (Geraldine Birch) came across the street and approached them (R380-81,383,388-89). Allen had known her for a couple or three years; "[s]he moved around, though" (R383). She asked if anybody had any crack, and she wanted a trick or something (R384,386-87). "Trick," Allen explained, meant sex for crack cocaine, and there was no doubt in his mind he heard her say that (R384,386-87,396). Appellant and Ms. Birch then left together, walking toward the Belmont Heights Little League field around the corner (R384).

On cross-examination, Allen stated that when he spoke with Detective McNamara during the police investigation, he told him that Ms. Birch has offered sex for crack (R386-88,395-96). He also told McNamara that appellant was wearing jeans and a pair of tennis shoes (R387).

Alvin Thomas knew appellant when they were both children in a foster home run by Mr. and Mrs. Rutledge (R404-06). Both appellant and Thomas had bedwetting problems. Every time they wet the bed, Mrs. Rutledge would beat them with her hand or a switch (R406-07). She would also beat appellant for no reason at all (R407).

⁴ On June 19, 1992, after the jury was discharged, the state presented to the trial judge as rebuttal the testimony of jail deputy Charles Kelly. Kelly testified that on June 9 appellant attacked him without provocation. See Issue VII, <u>infra</u>.

Appellant's grandmother Ollie May Rutledge⁵ (no relation to the foster parents, R414), and his older half-brother, Stanley Graham, testified that appellant's mother, Edwina, had a brain hemorrhage as a young child (R410,420). She had to leave school in the second grade and she cannot read or write (R410,420). She had nine children (R411). Appellant's father never lived at home or helped support the family at all (R422). When appellant was seven years old he was placed in a foster home, where he remained except for brief intervals until he was sixteen (R411,413,417,423-34,426-28). His grandmother did not visit him in the foster home because it was too painful for her (R413-14). Stanley would see him in school, but only on one occasion did he visit him in the foster home; "it just tore me up and I just didn't want to face him in foster care" (R424) According to Stanley, appellant never spent Christmas at home between the ages of seven and sixteen, and he only remembered one time when he was allowed to come home for a birthday or holiday (R424).

Both his brother and grandmother testified that appellant had expressed his remorse for what had happened (R415-16,424-25). Stanley is a Pentecost preacher, while appellant has recently become a Muslim. While Stanley does not believe in the Muslim religion, he testified that appellant has good knowledge of the Bible in his way (R425-26). His grandmother stated that appellant has been a beautiful grandson, who has done whatever he could for her, and never wanted money (R415). She has visited him once in

⁵ Or Rutlage (see R759,409)

jail, and he calls her once or twice a week. She has seen a great change in him, and she believes he could lead a productive life even though in prison (R416-17)

Dr. Robert Berland, a forensic psychologist, conducted a diagnostic evaluation of appellant, which included psychological and intelligence testing, interviewing appellant and lay witnesses, and reviewing medical, school and HRS records and police reports (R437-40,443,450,460). The psychological testing indicated that appellant was trying to hide or minimize his mental problems, but they came through anyway (R445,454,457,477). His IQ was average or just slightly above, but there were great disparities on the various subtests (R463,468,484-85,488). In some areas he was functioning like a person of high average intelligence, while in other areas he was functioning below the level of retardation (R468). This pattern was highly indicative of head injury and organic brain damage (R464-65,468-69,472,474,489). Dr. Berland testified that there was no doubt in his mind that appellant suffers from brain damage (R489).

School records and HRS documents indicated extreme levels of behavioral disturbance from a very young age, which, according to Dr. Berland, was typical of a youthful brain injured person (R469-71). He likened it to the kinds of problems which are now seen in "cocaine babies" (R471). When appellant was seven years old, he was essentially non-verbal, and was described by several different people as communicating primarily with animal grunts and grimaces (R481). Appellant's experience in foster care would also have

certainly been a negative influence on his emotional development (R474-75).

While appellant suffers from brain damage and the effects of a disturbed childhood and family background, Dr. Berland was of the opinion that he was not legally insane at the time of the offense, and that he has some sociopathic thinking (R472,486-88).

The state recalled Detective McNamara, who testified in rebuttal that, when he interviewed Otis Allen the week after Geraldine Birch's death, Allen did not tell him that Ms. Birch had offered sex for rocks (R501-03). According to McNamara, Allen told him that Ms. Birch had asked for a ride, and then appellant said he was going to catch a trick (meaning pay for sex or have sex) (R502,504-05).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

[Issue I] To avoid arbitrary and capricious punishment, an aggravating factor "must genuinely narrow the class of persons eligible for the death penalty and must reasonably justify the imposition of a more severe sentence on the defendant compared to others found guilty of murder." Zant v. Stephens, 462 U.S. 862, Florida's felony murder aggravating circumstance 867 (1983). merely repeats an element of first degree murder, and in no way narrows the class of persons eligible for the death penalty. It therefore violates the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution. See State v. Middlebrooks, 840 S.W. 2d 317 (Tenn. 1992), cert.granted, U.S. (53 CrL 3013) (1993). Because Florida is a "weighing state", and because the narrowing process occurs in the penalty phase, Lowenfield v. Phelps, 484 U.S. 231 (1988) does not apply. See <u>Stringer v. Black</u>, 503 U.S. , 112 S.Ct.___, 117 L. Ed. 2d 367 (1992).

[Issues II and III] To the extent that Florida's death penalty statute, Fla. Stat. § 921.141, allows a death recommendation to be returned by a bare majority vote of the jury, it violates the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments of the U.S. Constitution. See <u>Johnson v. Louisiana</u>, 406 U.S. 356 (1972) (Blackmun, J., concurring, and Powell, J., concurring); <u>State v.</u> <u>Daniels</u>, 542 A. 2d 306, 314-15 (Conn. 1988). Moreover, matters relating to jury unanimity or non-unanimity are procedural within the meaning of Article V, Section 2(a) of the Florida Constitution. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.440 provides that no verdict

may be returned unless all of the jurors concur in it. The Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure govern <u>all criminal procedure</u> in the state courts, <u>State v. Garcia</u>, 229 So. 2d 236 (Fla. 1969), and when there is conflict between a statute and a Rule on a matter of practice and procedure, the Rule controls, and the statute is unconstitutional to the extent of the conflict. <u>Garcia</u>; <u>Haven Federal</u> <u>Savings and Loan Assoc. v. Kirian</u>, 579 So. 2d 730 (Fla. 1991).

[Issue IV] The exclusion for cause of prospective juror Arnaiz after she indicated that, notwithstanding her personal views about the death penalty, she probably could follow the law in weighing the aggravating and mitigating circumstances, violated the standard of <u>Adams v. Texas</u>, 448 U.S. 38 (1980); <u>Wainwright v. Witt</u>, 469 U.S. 412 (1985); and <u>Gray v. Mississippi</u>, 481 U.S. 648 (1987). If even one prospective juror is barred from jury service because of her views on capital punishment on any broader basis than inability to follow the law or abide by her oath, the death sentence cannot constitutionally be carried out. <u>Adams</u>, 448 U.S. at 48. The erroneous exclusion of a juror under this standard can never be treated as harmless error. <u>Gray</u>, 481 U.S. at 659-68; <u>Davis v.</u> <u>Georgia</u>, 429 U.S. 122 (1976).

[Issue V] The trial judge committed reversible error when, over defense objection, she failed to conduct a <u>Neil</u> inquiry as to the state's peremptory excusal of a black juror, based on her misapprehension of law that the presence of other blacks on the panel negated the likelihood of discrimination. See <u>Stubbs v.</u> <u>State</u>, 540 So. 2d 255 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989); <u>Williams v. State</u>, 551

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