FILED SID J. WHITE

OCT 4 1993

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURL

By
Chief Deputy Clerk

PERRY ALEXANDER TAYLOR,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. 80,121

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY
Assistant Attorney General
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Westwood Center
Tampa, Florida 33607
(813) 873-4739

OF COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- I. The statutory aggravating factor F.S. 921.141(5)(d) is not unconstitutionally vague. Neither Stringer v. Black, 503 U.S. ___, 17 L.Ed.2d 367 (1992) nor the pending case of Tennessee v. Middlebrooks, ___ U.S. ___, 123 L.Ed.2d 466 (1993) provide relief.
- II. The provision of the Florida death penalty statute permitting a majority death recommendation does not violate the Constitution and this Court should adhere to its prior decisions on this point.
- III. Appellant's claim that F.S. 921.141 allowing a majority death recommendation is unconstitutional is meritless, the Court has previously rejected the claim and should do so again. The recommendation of the jury at penalty phase is not a verdict.
- IV. The lower court did not err in excusing for cause prospective juror Arnaiz; the trial court properly exercised its discretion in concluding that the juror truly was not able to follow the law.
- V. The lower court did not err in failing to hold a <u>Neil</u> inquiry as to juror Williams since the record affirmatively reflects a racially-neutral reason for excusal, i.e., the juror's desire not to serve and inability to concentrate because of working two jobs.
- VI. No error was committed by the trial court's introduction of photographs of the victims' genitals. The photos

were not gruesome and were relevant to demonstrate the injuries to the victim.

VII. The lower court did not err in permitting testimony by a prosecution witness after the jury returned an 8 to 4 death recommendation. Cf. Engle v. State, 438 So. 2d 803 (Fla. 1983).

VIII. The lower court did not err in instructing the jury, or making a finding, on the HAC factor. Appellant specifically withdrew his objection to the instruction and consequently that claim is procedurally barred. The trial court's finding was appropriate as the evidence of the victim's injuries clearly supports the finding.

- IX. The trial court did not commit reversible error since it gave the "catchall" nonstatutory mitigating instruction.
- X. The imposition of a death sentence is not disproportionate; there are three valid statutory aggravators and insubstantial mitigating proffered.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER FLORIDA'S FELONY-MURDER AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE VIOLATES THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.

Appellant argued below in a motion declare to F.S. 921.141(5)(d) unconstitutional that the "felony murder" aggravator violated the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments (R 722 -The trial court denied the motion on May 14, 1992 (R 729, R 613).1

Appellant contends that the pending case of Tennessee v. Middlebrooks, _____, 123 L.Ed.2d 466 (1993), supports his view that F.S. 921.141(5)(d) is unconstitutional. Appellee disagrees. The State of Tennessee is the petitioner in that case and the grant of certiorari can only be a good omen to the state since it had suffered an adverse ruling in the lower court and the failure to provide review would have left the state in a final, uncorrectable ruling favorable to the defendant. If appellant were correct, this would be very bad news indeed for the late Larry Joe Johnson who was at first granted relief on this point by a United States District Judge, which order was subsequently reversed by the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals.

Johnson v. Singletary, 991 F.2d 663, 7 Fla. Law Weekly, Fed C 340 (11th Cir. Case No. 93-2497, May 7, 1993), cert. denied, ____U.S.

Appellant did not object to the instruction to be given (R 516).

> ___, 112 S.Ct. In Stringer v. Black, 503 U.S. 1130, 117 L.Ed.2d 367 (1992), the Supreme Court held that when a sentencing jury, in a weighing state, considers a constitutionally invalid aggravating factor, the appellate courts "may not assume it would have made no difference if the thumb had been removed from death's side of the scale" 503 U.S. at 112 S.Ct. at 1137, 117 L.Ed.2d at 379. The issue in Stringer was the jury's consideration of the 'heinous, atrocious, and aggravating factor. Nothing in indicates that there is any constitutional infirmity in the Florida statute which permits a defendant to be death eligible based upon a felony murder conviction, and to sentenced to death based upon aggravating circumstance that duplicates an element of the underlying conviction.

> Stringer stands for the proposition that if Johnson's jury had considered an invalid aggravating factor, we must assume that that factor affected their weighing process. It does not hold that the consideration of the felony murder aggravating factor in this case is invalid. We hold that Stringer v. Black is not an intervening change in the law, which undermines the previous decision in this case, and that Johnson's successive claim constitutes an abuse of the writ.

(991 F.2d at 669)

This Court should continue to reject this claim. See Clark v. State, 443 So. 2d 973, 978 (Fla. 1983); Bertolotti v. State, 534 So. 2d 386 (Fla. 1988).

² Appellant cites <u>Porter v. State</u>, 564 So. 2d 1060, 1063 - 64 (Fla. 1990) as one of the decisions that "strongly suggest the opposite result". The discussion therein in <u>Porter</u> pertains to the heightened premeditation requirement of the CCP aggravator;

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE PROVISION OF THE FLORIDA DEATH PENALTY STATUTE ALLOWING A MAJORITY DEATH RECOMMENDATION VIOLATES THE SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.

Appellant filed a motion in the lower court to declare F.S. 921.141 unconstitutional because it permits a bare majority of jurors to recommend death (R 700 - 702). Not surprisingly, this motion too was denied (R 702, R 613). Since the United States Supreme Court has upheld Florida's death penalty scheme against attack on the basis that the Constitution should not permit death when there is a jury life recommendation, Spaziano v. Florida, 468 U.S. 447, 82 L.Ed.2d 340 (1984), it is difficult to comprehend why permitting a death sentence with a majority recommending death would be violative of the Constitution.

In any event, appellant has no standing to complain since his jury recommended death by an eight to four vote (R 599, 799).

appellee finds little suggestion that the felony-murder aggravator is unconstitutional.

Appellant cites Lockhart v. Fretwell, 506 U.S. ___, 122 L.Ed.2d 180, 190, n.4 (1993), wherein the Court declined to accept Fretwell's invitation to decide whether the Eighth Circuit had correctly overruled Collins v. Lockhart, 754 F.2d 258 (8th Cir.), in Perry v. Lockhart, 871 F.2d 1384 (8th Cir.), following the decision in Lowenfield v. Phelps, 484 U.S. 231, 98 L.Ed.2d 568 (1988). That the Court declined now to re-evaluate Collins-Perry when the question was not presented does not pe se suggest that resurrection of Collins is imminent.

Appellant recognizes that this Court has consistently rejected his jury unanimity contention in Jones v. State, 569 So. 2d 1234, 1238 (Fla. 1990), James v. State, 453 So. 2d 786, 792 (Fla. 1984), Alvord v. State, 322 So. 2d 533, 536 (Fla. 1975) and Brown v. State, 565 So. 2d 304, 308 (Fla. 1990), but argues they "were wrongly decided as a matter of federal constitutional law." (Brief, p. 36). Presumably, Spaziano v. Florida, supra was also "wrongly decided as a matter of federal constitutional law." Appellee submits that there has been no erroneous decision on this score and the issue need not be revisited unless and until the Unites States Supreme Court rules to the contrary.

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE PROVISION OF FLORIDA STATUTE 921.141(3) ALLOWING A MAJORITY DEATH RECOMMENDATION CONFLICTS WITH RULE 3.440, R.CR.P.

Appellant did not present this claim below to the trial court and consequently the issue has not been preserved for Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. appellate review. 1982); Occhicone v. State, 570 So. 2d 902 (Fla. 1990). Appellant concedes this fact but urges that since he is now asserting facial invalidity of the statue, he may do so ab initio pursuant to Trushin v. State, 425 So. 2d 1126, 1129 - 30 (Fla. 1983) and State v. Johnson, 616 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1993). In State v. Johnson, supra, this Court explained that a facial challenge to a statue's constitutional validity may be raised for the first time on appeal only if the error is fundamental, i.e., "the error must be basic to the judicial decision under review and equivalent to a denial of due process." Ibid. at 3. Since the United States Supreme Court has already held that the Constitution is not violated by the trial court's imposition of a death sentence following a jury life recommendation -- Spaziano v. Florida, -it cannot be the "equivalent to a denial of due process" to reject Taylor's claim and continue to adhere to the rule that a jury's penalty recommendation is not a verdict. 3 Previously,

As in <u>Sanford v. Rubin</u>, 237 So. 2d 134 (Fla. 1970), this Court should refuse to consider the constitutionality issue sub judice because no fundamental error question is raised. <u>State v. Johnson</u>, supra, at 3.

this Court has consistently rejected challenges that the Florida death penalty statute unconstitutionally seeks to regulate matters of criminal trial and procedure. See <u>Dobbert v. State</u>, 375 So. 2d 1069, 0171 (Fla. 1979); <u>Booker v. State</u>, 397 So. 2d 910, 918 (Fla. 1981); <u>J.L. Smith v. State</u>, 407 So.2d 894, 899 (Fla. 1981); <u>Jent v. State</u>, 408 So. 2d 1024, 1032 (Fla. 1981); <u>Vaught v. State</u>, 410 So.2d 147, 149 (Fla. 1982); <u>Morgan v. State</u>, 415 So. 2d 6, 11 (Fla. 1982).

In presenting his warmed over complaint ab initio that the "procedural" unanimous verdict rule (3.440) renders the "substantive" statute (921.141[3]) authorizing a majority sentencing recommendation unconstitutional, he fails to explain why this Court's pronouncement in Morgan is inapplicable:

"To the extent that section 921.141 pertains to procedural matters such as the bifurcated nature of the trial in capital cases, it has been incorporated by reference in Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.780, promulgated by this Court, and is therefore properly adopted."

(415 So. 2d at 11)

Furthermore, in <u>Cannady v. State</u>, 427 So. 2d 723 (Fla. 1983), this Court explained:

provisions arques that these concerning the advisory nature of the jury's recommendation apply only when the jury recommends a death sentence and that for the constitutional to be recommendation of life must be binding upon This argument is premised the trial court. the contention that recommendation of a life sentence is in fact a jury verdict finding a defendant not guilty first-degree aggravated o.f.

Therefore, appellant argues, the judge's imposition of the death sentence after the jury has reached a verdict to recommend a life sentence deprives appellant of his constitutional right to be free from There is no basis in double jeopardy. support of appellant's premise that a jury recommendation of a sentence is the same as a to guilt or penalty law verdict as innocence. Florida's death completely separates these two functions by establishing bifurcated trial system. pnealtyphase of the trial, the judge must determine the sentence with the advice and guidance of the jury. Cooper v. State,, 336 So. 2d 1133 (Fla. 1976), cert. denied, 431 U.S. 925, 97 S.Ct. 2200, 53 L.Ed.2d 239 (1977). statute clearly provides that the jury's recommendation is advisory only regardless of whether the recommendation is for a life sentence or death. The statute's authorizing trial judge to override recomendation of a life sentence does not place a defendant in double jeopardy in violation of the state and federal constitution. Johnson v. State, 393 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1980), cert. denied 454 U.S. 882, 102 S.Ct. 364, 70 L.Ed.2d 191 (1981); Phippen v. State, 389 So. 2d 391 (Fla. 1980); Douglas v. State, 373 So. 2d 895 (Fla. 1979).

(emphasis supplied) (text at 729 - 730)

Additionally, this Court observed in <u>Fleming v. State</u>, 374 So. 2d 954 (Fla. 1979) that:

"He [appellant] also urges reconsideration of our decision in Alvord v. State, 322 So. 2d 533 (Fla. 1975), asserting that a recommendation of death by a simple majority is unconstitutional."

(text at 957)

The Court rejected the claim. And in the cited decision Alvord, this Court ruled:

Defendant contends that the provisions of the Florida Statute allowing a jury to render an advisory opinion on the question of the sentence to be imposed in a capital case by a simple majority vote violates defendant's right to a trial by guaranteed by the Florida and United States Constitutional. The defendant recognizes that Johnson v. Louisiana, 406 U.S. 356, 932 S.Ct. 1620, 32 L.Ed.2d 152, upheld a statute which allowed a conviction to be entered in certain felony cases upon a nine-three plurality verdict of the jury, but says that the court based its decision upon the fact the Louisiana statute required concurrence of a "substantial majority" of The contention advanced by jurors. defendant in the case sub judice was rejected by the United States Supreme Court in the Johnson case when the Court said:

> "We note at the outset that this Court has never held jury unanimity to be a requisite of due process of Indeed, the Court has more than once expressly said that '[i]n criminal cases due process of law is not denied by a state law . . . which dispenses with the necessity of a jury of twelve, or unanimity in the verdict.' JoranMassachusetts 225 U.S. 167, 1765, 32 S.Ct. 651, 56 L.Ed.2d 1038, 1042 (1912)(dictum). Accord, Maxwell v. Dow, 176 U.S. 581, 602, 605, 20 S.Ct. 448, 44 L.Ed. 597, 605, 606 (1900) (dictum)." 406 U.S. at 359, 92 S.Ct. at 1623, 32 L.Ed.2d at 157, 158.

The argument of defendant on unanimous v. majority recommendations was specifically met by this Court in $Watson\ v.\ State$, 190 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 1967), when it stated:

"The provisions of F.S. Section 794.01 and 919.25, F.S.A., authorizing a jury by a majority vote to recommend mercy for a defendant it has found guilty in a capital case are beneficial to the

defendant. Requirement οf unanimous would vote lessen defendant's chance for mercy. provisions Without these said statutes would result in defendant found quilty thereunder automatically sentenced death. It lies within the province of the Legislature to prescribe the punishment to be imposed upon a who is found quilty or pleads quilty to an offense as well as the method or manner of its The power to define imposition. what acts shall constitute criminal offenses and what penalties shall offenders inflicted on legislative. 14 Am.Jur., Criminal Law, §16. The legislature may to assess authorize а jury punishment. 15 Am. Jury., Criminal It is not necessary in Law, §510. the sentencing phase of a criminal case that the jury's verdict be legislature unanimous where the provides otherwise. The cases cited by the Appellants from other jurisdictions do to construe statutes similar to F.S. Sections 794.01 and 919.23, F.S.A., which require only a majority vote for a recommendation of mercy. There is no provision in our Constitution requiring a unanimous verdict respect to a recommendation of mercy." (pp. 166, 167)

(322 So. 2d at 536)

Appellant's claim has been rejected and should be rejected again. 4

Appellant's reliance on <u>Wright v. State</u>, 586 So. 2d 1024 (Fla. 1991) is unavailing. In <u>Wright</u> this Court concluded that "when it is determined on appeal that the trial court should have accepted a jury's recommendation of life imprisonment pursuant to Tedder, the defendant must be deemed acquitted of the death penalty for double jeopardy purposes." Id. at 1032. While <u>Wright</u> certainly adds an evolutionary link to the <u>Tedder</u>

ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN EXCUSING FOR CAUSE PROSPECTIVE JUROR ARNAIZ.

The record reflects that prospective juror Number 49, Ms. Arnaiz was asked what her feelings were about capital punishment and she answered:

"I just don't believe in it. I'm sorry."

(R 124)

When the defense counsel asked, "Under any circumstances?", she replied:

'Well, now your getting me in doubt. It's been going around so I don't know. I don't know."

(R 125)

When asked if she could follow the law in weighing aggravating circumstances, she replied:

"I probably could now, yes."

The prosecutor challenged the juror for cause, the defense objected and the court ruled:

"I'm going to grant the motion. She further said she could not impose the death penalty under any circumstances. And then later she said she probably could."

(R 139)

jurisprudence, it adds nothing to the well-established doctrine that the jury's recommendation at penalty is distinct from the verdict of guilt. An appellate court's determination that life imprisonment is the appropriate sanction, for double jeopardy purposes, does not transmogrify a recommendation into a verdict.

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